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St atement of the Proceedings

These consol i dated proceedi ngs concern proposals for
assessnment of civil penalties filed by the petitioner against the
respondent pursuant to the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of
1977. Docket No. WEVA 93-16, concerns a civil penalty proposa
filed by the petitioner against the respondent Tal on Resources,
Inc., for an alleged violation of mandatory safety standard
30 CF.R 0O 75.1701. The petitioner seeks a civil penalty
assessnment of $2,000, for the alleged violation

Docket Nos. WEVA 93-393 and WEVA 93-402 concern civi
penalty proposals filed by the petitioner against the nanmed
i ndi vidual respondents pursuant to section 110(c) of the Act
for allegedly "know ngly" authorizing, ordering, or carrying
out the alleged violation served on Tal on Resources in Docket
No. WEVA 93-16. The petitioner seeks civil penalty assessnents
of $1, 000, against each of the individual respondents for the
al | eged viol ati ons.

The respondents filed tinmely answers denying the all eged
vi ol ati ons, and a consolidated hearing was held in Charl eston,
West Virginia. The parties filed posthearing briefs and I have
considered their argunents in the course of ny adjudication of
these matters.
| ssues

In Docket No. WEVA 93-16, the issues include (1) whether the
corporate operator Tal on Resources Incorporated (hereinafter
Tal on), violated the cited mandatory safety standard; (2) whether
the violation was "significant and substantial"™ (S&S), (3)
whet her the violation was the result of an unwarrantable failure
by Talon to conply with the cited standard; and (4) the
appropriate civil penalty to be assessed, taking into account the
civil penalty assessnent criteria found in section 110(i) of the
Act .

In the two individual section 110(c) cases, the principa
i ssue is whether or not the nanmed respondents know ngly
aut hori zed, ordered, or carried out the alleged violation, and
if so, the appropriate civil penalties that shoul d be assessed
for the violation taking into account the relevant criteria found
in section 110(i) of the Act. Also in issue is whether or not
the violation was "S&S" and whether or not it was the result of
an unwarrantable failure to conply with the requirenents of the
cited standard.
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Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provisions

1. The Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of
1977, P.L. 95-164, 30 U.S.C. 0O 801, et seq.

2. The presiding Judge has jurisdiction to hear
and decide this matter.

3. Commi ssion Rules, 29 C.F. R 0O 2700.1 et seq.
Di scussi on

The Section 104(d)(1) "S&S" citation No. 2729003, issued on
July 14, 1992, at 11:00 A M, by MSHA Inspector Leo R | nghram
cites an alleged violation of nandatory safety standard 30 C. F. R
0 75.1701, and it states as follows

The No. 3 entry of the No. 4 panel section 002-0 mined
i nto an abandoned coal m ne which could contain

danger ous accumrul ati ons of water and gases. The mne
was i naccessible and could not be exam ned for hazards.
Test hol es had not been drilled in any of the faces of
the No. 4 panel prior to cutting into the abandoned

m ne. The m ne operator continued to nmne near the
area where he cut into the abandoned mine w thout
drilling test holes. A cross cut was mnined between
No. 4 and 5 entries which is within 200 feet of the
abandoned m ne (approximately 80 feet). Also, roomns
were started to the right in the No. 5 entry of the
No. 4 panel, and No. 1 room was approxi mately 175 feet
away fromwhere No. 3 entry cut into abandoned ni ne

The m ne operator did not have a map show ng the
abandoned ni ne and did not know how far or near the
rest of the abandoned mne was to the No. 4 pane
section, yet the operator continued to mne in the
general area of the abandoned mne without drilling
test holes. The operator cut into the abandoned m ne at
approxi mately 0930 on 7-13-92, and was observed m ning
in the general area near the abandoned mine at 0900 on
7-14-92. The m ne operator has since (about 1000 A M
7-14-92) obtained an uncertified map of the abandoned
m ne, but has not transposed it on to his certified map
of the Canpbell's Creek No. 2 nine

MSHA | nspector Leo R Inghram Jr. confirmed that he
conducted a mne inspection on July 14, 1992, and issued a
vi ol ati on because of the failure by Talon to drill test holes
while mning on an active section near an abandoned coal m ne
that could not be inspected (Tr. 10). He stated that he arrived
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at the mine at 7:20 A.M, and that two state mine inspectors were
there. They told himthat the respondent had cut into an old mne
and they proceeded underground to the nunmber four panel section
to investigate the situation. M. Inghram found that the number
three entry had cut into an abandoned coal m ne and that Tal on
and MSHA were unaware that the m ne was there and it was not
shown on a map that had been submitted to MSHA (Tr. 12).

M. Inghramtestified that he cited a violation of
section 75.1701, after determ ning that mning was conducted
within 200 feet of the abandoned adjacent m ne without
drilling the required test bore holes. Referring to a mine map
(Exhibit G2), he identified the area where the nunber three
entry cut through into the abandoned nine. He stated that he was
i nformed by the respondent operator that the breakthrough
occurred the previous day, July 13, at approximtely 9:00 A M
(Tr. 15).

The inspector stated that after the breakthrough, mning
continued in the | ast open crosscut between the number four and
five entries, and roonms were started to the right off the nunber
five entry. Although the entry nunmbers are not shown on the m ne
map, he stated that it was a common industry practice to number
the entries fromleft to right, and he marked the map accordingly
(Tr. 17). He believed that m ning was taking place and he
observed a mning machine | oading a shuttle car, but was not
sure whether it was in the crosscut or in the number one room
(Tr. 18).

The inspector stated that he determined that the crosscut
that was m ned between the nunber four and number five entries
was within 200 feet of the abandoned mi ne by taking into account
the fact that the entries were on 80-foot centers, as shown by a
map of the nunber four panel that was obtained by the state
i nspector from Talon and then given to himby the State inspector
(Exhibit G3; Tr. 19). The inspector explained that the draw ngs
on the map were nmade "to try to determine a two hundred foot
l ength fromwhere they cut into the old mne", and that he and a
state inspector (Gllian) used a rule or scale to make their
cal culations while "trying to determ ne the probabl e two-hundred
foot limt line" (Tr. 21).

The inspector stated that the cal cul ati ons shown on the nap
were made the same day the citation was issued, and that the
cal cul ations were made to determ ne how far the respondent woul d
have to retreat away fromthe abandoned mine in order to continue
mning without drilling the required test holes (Tr. 21). He
expl ained that the solid line drawn on the map (Exhibit G 3),
i ndi cates where the breakthrough occurred, and the broken |ine
reflects where nmining could legally continue outby that line. He
determined that m ning could legally continue in the nunber two,
three, and four roonms, and any areas outhby the nunber two room
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wi thout drilling test holes. Mning could have been done i nby
the nunber two roombut only if test holes were drilled in
advance (Tr. 22-23).

The inspector stated that the 200 foot limts as shown on
the map (Exhibit G 3), were drawn at an angl e because "where they
had cut through into the old mne, you could only see a short
di stance back in there and it appeared that the entry fromthe
abandoned mne was coming in at this angle", as shown by the
solid line (Tr. 23). He explained that his cal cul ati ons were
made "by visually looking at it" because he had no way of going
into the area (Tr. 23). He confirned that at the tine the map
was prepared, he and the state inspector did not have a map
relating to the abandoned m ne, and no one at the m ne had such a
map (Tr. 24). However, he recalled that he nay have seen a copy
of the abandoned mine map on the day the citation was issued, or
the next day, but his notes reflect that the abandoned m ne
identified as the "Big Bottom Coal Conpany," had not been
recorded on the mine map at the tine of his inspection (Tr. 27).

The inspector stated that previous to the breakthrough the
abandoned nmi ne was not part of the respondent's mne, but he
believed that it would now be considered part of the m ne because
during his last visit there the old m ne was being ventil ated
fromthe Canpbell Creek mne breakthrough, and he has taken air
sanples at the old nmine entries, and noticed "a snmall stream of
wat er" com ng out of one of the entries (Tr. 32-35). He
confirmed that he has never entered the old Big Bottom mine from
i nside the Canpbell's Creek M ne, and has no know edge of anyone
el se going into the old mne (Tr. 36).

The inspector described the condition of the breakthrough on
July 14, as follows at (Tr. 36-37):

A The nunber three entry had cut through into
the old mine in the Ileft-hand corner of the
entry. And you could shine -- You could see
back in there alittle ways with your |ight,
but the area was unsupported and it couldn't
be exam ned at that particular tine.

Q Okay. How big a hole, as far as feet or
i nches, would you say there was when you
arrived on the fourteenth?

A ['"mnot --

Approxi mately.

Approxi mately, | would say naybe right to ten
feet. I'mnot sure.
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Q Eight to ten feet high?

A W de.

Q And how hi gh? Again, approxi mately.

A This is speculation. Normally, the coal in

this mne runs about ten foot high. So
woul d say on the Canpbell's Creek Number two
side, it was probably about ten feet high
sonmething |ike that.

The inspector stated that he could not approach close enough
to look into the old m ne entry because the roof at the break-
through area and corner were unsupported. Looking froma
di stance, he estimated that there was probably two or three feet
of fallen rock on the old nmine floor and that the height of the
entry appeared to be "six feet or so", but he could not get close
enough to | ook back into the old mine (Tr. 37-38).

The inspector stated that he based his "S&S" finding on the
fact that the ol d abandoned m ne was not being ventilated ot her
than with the air |eaking through fromthe Canpbell mne, and
that old mnes can contain-low oxygen |evels and have water
accurul ati ons when they are not worked and water is not being
punped out. He confirmed that he nade sone tests at the m ne
openi ng during his inspection and he found no nethane, and the
oxygen was good. He explained that he was neasuring the air
com ng fromthe Canmpbell's Creek mine and going into the
abandoned m ne, and he confirmed that air was bei ng coursed
through the old mne froma blowing fan in the Canpbell mne. He
determ ned that seven mners were affected by the citation, and
he identified the respondent Richard Garrett as the day shift
section foreman (Tr. 39-40). The inspector confirnmed that old
abandoned mnes that are not ventilated or punped of water
"coul d possibly contain dangerous accunul ati ons of gas and water"
(Tr. 41).

The inspector stated that after the initial breakthrough
m ni ng continued for approximtely three shifts, and he assunmed
that there were no hazardous conditions on the section while this
m ning was taking place (Tr. 42). After the initial break-
t hrough, mning continued "off to the right" and no further
br eakt hroughs were nade during this tine (Tr. 44). The inspector
descri bed the areas where mining continued and he marked the
entries and roons on the mne map, and explained that the areas
that are "bl ackened in" on the map are the areas and roons that
were mned after the breakthrough (Exhibit S-2; 45-46).

The inspector stated that he spoke with foreman Garrett on
July 14, about the breakthrough, and informed himthat he saw no
evi dence of any test holes being drilled while mning was stil
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going on in the vicinity of the abandoned nmine. M. Garrett
informed himthat no test holes were drilled and stated that
don't have anything to drill with", and this is recorded in his
notes (Exhibit S-4, pg. 8, Tr. 48). M. CGarrett also informed
hi mthat he was aware of the fact that test holes were required
to be drilled when near an old nmine, and that he had called

M. Abraham who told himto "start the mning to the right, off
nunber five entry", and the inspector assuned that M. Garrett
contacted M. Abrahamon July 13, the day of the breakthrough
into the abandoned nine (Tr. 48-49).

we

The inspector stated that he decided to cite the violation
as a section 104(d) (1) unwarrantable failure citation because of
Tal on's hi gh negligence for continuing to mine in close proximty
to the abandoned mine without drilling test holes, and because
there was no map indicating the extent of the abandoned nmi ne and
whet her they were heading toward the old nmine again (Tr. 49).

The inspector stated that according to his cal cul ations the
nunber one room of f the nunber five entry was approxi mately
175 feet fromthe original breakthrough at the nunber three
entry, and that the "probable two-hundred foot |limt" shown by
the solid and broken lines on Exhibit S-3, was based on the
calculations that he and the state inspector nade. He stated
that "as far as actually knowing the |limts of the old mne, no,
we didn't know. And | don't think anybody else did either"
(Tr. 50).

The inspector confirmed that the initial breakthrough was an
accident and was not a violation. The violation was issued
because of the mining that continued within 200 feet of the
br eakt hrough area without drilling test holes to determne the
| ocation of the old abandoned mne (Tr. 51).

The inspector further explained the hazards associated with
the failure to test drill within 200 feet of an abandoned m ne
(Tr. 51-57). He stated that the date on the map showing the Big
Bottom Coal mine reflects that the |ast known date of mining was
December 10, 1925 (Tr. 57). He further explained his "S&S" and
"reasonably likely" gravity findings (Tr. 58-62).

The inspector stated that at the tine of his inspection he
did not ask anyone whether or not they had entered the old
abandoned m ne, and he saw no visible evidence that anyone had
entered that mine. He believed that there was enough room from
the size of the breakthrough for soneone to go into the old mne
(Tr. 63).

In response to further questions, the inspector confirned
that he did not speak to M. Abraham when the citation was
i ssued, but he was not sure whether he spoke with himlater that
day. The inspector stated that "there was a | ot of confusion
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goi ng on outside. People were scurrying around, hunting a map"
(Tr. 64). He further stated that "they were | ooking for a map to
try to determne the [ocation and extent of that old mine in
relation to where they were mning so they woul d have a genera

i dea of where to mne, probably away fromthat mne, | would say”
(Tr. 64).

In response to a bench question as to whether he woul d have
i ssued a violation if Talon had produced a map show ng that the
abandoned m ne was further than 200 feet from where m ning was

taking place on July 14, the inspector stated that "I think we
still had a violation because that m ne was unsafely exam ned.
The roof was not supported in that mne. It was driven many

years ago" (Tr. 65). He explained that "the law requires themto
exam ne an area of an abandoned m ne when they approach within
two hundred feet of this mne" (Tr. 66). He explained further
that he would not have issued a violation if the respondent had
produced a certified map showi ng that the abandoned mi ne was

500 feet away (Tr. 66).

The inspector reiterated that no one, including M. Abraham
i nformed himthat anyone had entered the old mne and exam ned it
and found it safe. He stated that he first |earned about sonmeone
stating that they had entered the old mne during the taking of a
deposition in this case (Tr. 68).

On cross-exam nation, Inspector Inghram stated that Tal on
was never required to drill test holes at the mine, and it was
not required to do so after he issued the citation (Tr. 72). He
confirmed that there was a second breakthrough approximtely a
month after the initial one, and that he went to the mne to
exami ne the second incident and took notes. He confirned that
the second breakt hrough occurred on August 17, 1992, and that the
dotted Iine shown on map Exhibit S-2, showi ng the extension of
the 200 foot limt fromthe old mine was "essentially a
t heori zati on of where that m ne extends now' (Tr. 74). He
confirmed that after the second breakthrough the previous map
of the old mne received by Tal on was not entirely accurate
(Tr. 74).

The inspector confirnmed that the conditions of the second
br eakt hrough were the sanme as the first one, but he never
required any test drilling, and he found no hazardous anounts of
wat er, methane, or oxygen. However, mining was discontinued in
the area and noved to a different area away fromthe breakthrough
(Tr. 75-76).

The inspector stated that the highlighted solid |ine shown
on map Exhibit G 3, is his estimation of the location of the
abandoned mne on July 14, 1992. He confirnmed that he and the
state inspector drew this |ine based on "our observation of the
old mne, it appeared it was going in that general direction



~735

This is probable. This is not a survey", and that it was his
"best guess as to where the nine lay" (Tr. 77). \Wen asked if he
was wrong, he replied "I may be wong about the direction, but
the mne was within that areas, according to the map that you
submtted to us" (Tr. 77). He explained that map Exhibit S 2,
submtted to MSHA, clearly shows a broken line | abeled "200 ft.
barrier", and that it falls within the crosscut at the No. one
room (Tr. 78). He confirmed that this line does not go in the
direction of the entry that cut into the old nmine, and that it
starts at the right-hand side of the Nunmber three entry, and that
the place that was actually mned through and opened up was on
the left side of that entry (Tr. 79).

The inspector stated that he nade no actual neasurenents to
determ ne that the nunmber one roomwas within 200 feet of the
br eakt hrough, and that his cal cul ati ons were based on the map
submitted to MSHA, and that the cal culations nmade at the tine the
citation was issued was based on an "imaginary |ine" of where he
bel i eved the nine was located (Tr. 80).

The inspector stated that he received no tel ephone cal
reporting the initial breakthrough and that he was unaware of any
call made to MSHA by M. Abraham or any calls to the state
i nspectors. He confirmed that these inspectors were at the mne
because they knew about the breakthrough (Tr. 81). He confirned
that he issued the citation because m ning was taking place
within 200 feet of the abandoned mine that could not be exani ned
for accumul ati ons of water and gases and no test holes were being
drilled (Tr. 82). He confirned that his notes do not reflect the
exact |ocation where mning was taken place on July 14, "other
than they were mning to the right, in roons to the right”

(Tr. 82-83).

The inspector confirmed that the Canpbell's Creek m ne has
no history of dangerous accunul ati ons of nmethane and that he did
not issue the citation out of concern that dangerous |evels of
nmet hane woul d be encountered during mining. Wth regard to the
possibility of cutting into dead-end entries, the inspector
stated "I don't know how the old mne lay and we still don't
know for sure"” (Tr. 89). He agreed that once the breakthrough
occurred, the air fromthe Canpbell mne was going out the old
mne (Tr. 90).

The inspector testified about possible water hazards in the
old mne, and confirned that he found no dangerous accunul ati ons
of water (Tr. 91). He stated that he was not sure of the mne
el evations, and confirned that he saw water com ng out of the
mout hs of the abandoned mine. He believed that it was possible
t hat dangerous water |evels would be encountered by mning into
the old m ne because the respondent did not know the actua
extent of the mne. He stated that he could not exam ne the mne
in any detail, but based on his past experience, he believed that
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wat er can accunulate in a mne that is not being naintained

(Tr. 94). He confirnmed that he did not know what the conditions
were in the abandoned m ne other than what he could see through
t he breakt hrough (Tr. 93-94, 96).

The inspector stated that he based his "S&S" finding "on the
probability that they could cut in this mne at another |ocation
away fromthis original breakthrough and then possibly encounter
accurrul ati ons of water or |ow oxygen or whatever" (Tr. 97). He
further stated that he based his finding "on what was possi bl e",
and "not this particular fifty or sixty or eighty here that |
could see" (Tr. 97). He confirmed that he did not include the
Nurmber 2, 3, and 4 roons off the Nunmber 5 entry as part of the
af fected areas described in his citation for the follow ng
reasons (Tr. 99):

THE W TNESS: Because when | obtained the mne map and
the calculations on the nmne map nade by the state

i nspector and myself, it was deternined that those
rooms -- And this is a probable two-hundred-foot limt
-- it was determined by M. Gllian and nyself that
those Nunber two, three and four roonms were not within
the two-hundred-foot limt and were very unlikely to
cut into that mne.

We didn't know the extent of this. W don't know the
extent -- | can't say that two, three and four entries
were within two hundred feet of that old mine. But I
could say with a little calculation on the mne map and
things that the crosscut between nunber four and nunber
five entry and nunber one room was probably within two
hundred feet of that old mne

The inspector confirned that when he was at the breakthrough
area on July 14, a curtain may have been installed at that
| ocation, but he was not sure (Tr. 101). He confirnmed that when
he took the air sanples shown in Exhibit R-1, the Big Bottom M ne
had been incorporated as part of the Canpbell's Creek M ne
(Tr. 102). He explained where he took one of the sanples at the
surface of the Big Bottom Mne. He confirmed that the citation

was term nated without the drilling of any test holes, and that
after the second breakt hrough, he still did not require the
drilling of any test holes (Tr. 104).

In response to further questions, the inspector stated that
when the August 17, 1992, accidental breakthrough occurred, he
did not believe that the 200 foot barrier |ines shown on map
Exhibit S-2, were shown on that map, and no citation was issued
at that time because based on the map, the breakthrough was not
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within 200 feet of the abandoned mine, and it was an acci dent
because the respondent had no know edge of the old m ne area and
m ni ng had ceased in that area (Tr. 107).

Wth regard to the highlighted 200 foot |ine shown on
Exhibit S-3, the inspector explained that he drew it at an angle
toward the top of the map rather than to the left or right in
anot her direction because "to the right is where they were mnining
or wanting to mne on this panel, starting these rooms off the
Nunber five entry. So we drewthe line to the right and our two-
hundred-foot line to the right so that they could come outby
there and continue mning. They were wanting to continue m ning"
(Tr. 108). He stated further that "we were calculating on this
map to determ ne whether they could go ahead and mine, so that
they could be within two hundred feet -- or would be two hundred
feet away fromthat old mne, so they could go ahead and conti nue
production that day" (Tr. 109).

The inspector stated that the breakthrough entry was "driven
strai ght ahead where they cut through”", and that the entry of the

old mne "was going to the right, as near as | renenber”. \When
asked if it was on an angle to the right, he replied "I don't
know how radical, but it was going to the right, according to
this, not as nmuch as | thought, well, it's still a pretty good

angle" (Tr. 109).

MSHA Speci al Investigator Charlie M Meadows testified that
he conducted a conbi ned investigation of the two individua
respondents, beginning in August, 1992, and endi ng on Decemnber 2,
1992. He stated that he interviewed nine individuals, including
Keith Stephens, and the two respondents in these proceedi ngs
(Tr. 116-119). He stated that after speaking "with mne
managenment and associ ates of managenent” it was determ ned that
after cutting through into the old m ne, which was not a
violation, "they elected to go ahead and mine in a close
proximty of the old mne that they cut into, not know ng what
was there at that point in tine" (Tr. 120).

Wth respect to respondents Abraham and Garrett, M. Meadows
stated that based on the "testinmony" he received, which was
"pretty close", "each one of themstated that they cut into the
old mne" (Tr. 120). M. Meadows sated that M. Abraham and
M. Garrett had a tel ephone conversation and "they elected to
go ahead and mine the breakthrough and turn the roons". Wen the
second shift came on, shift foreman Stephens was instructed by
M. Garrett "to go ahead and mine in that area" (Tr. 121).

M. Meadows stated that M. Stephens was al so "Charged with
a civil penalty". However, the petitioner's counsel confirned
that this was not the case, and that no civil penalty proceedi ng
was filed against M. Stephens (Tr. 122).
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M. Meadows stated that M. Garrett told himthat after the
initial breakthrough was made he called M. Abraham who was not
aware of the old mne, and M. Abrahamtold himto m ne through
the crosscut and to start mning to the right off the nunber five
room (Tr. 122).

M. Meadows stated that he spoke with M. Abraham and was
i nforned that when M. Garrett called him M. Abraham checked
the available nmine map at the mine office and the old m ne was
not shown. M. Abrahamthen called the | essee of the coal seam
and an old map was obtained from an engi neering conpany and it
was plotted onto the mine map. M. Meadows stated that
M. Abraham explained to himthat "he didn't think he was in
viol ation of the | aw when they started to the right because he
wasn't going toward the old mne", and M. Garrett stated that he
was following M. Abraham s instructions (Tr. 123).

M. Meadows expl ained further that he was told by
M. Garrett that after he informed M. Abraham that "he worked
the crosscut between nunmber four and five", M. Abrahamtold him
to "pull the equipnent back and start the section to the right".
M. Meadows al so believed that M. Garrett told M. Abrahamthat
air was going into the old mne, that there was no water at the
area that was cut through, and that M. Garrett believed he could
turn the crosscut between four and five because the entries was
up ahead of where the crosscut would be (Tr. 125). M. Meadows
stated that as far as he knew, M. Garrett and M. Abrahamdid
not discuss any test drilling (Tr. 126).

M. Meadows stated that M. Garrett told himthat "he knew
he shoul d have been drilling test holes in that area"” but that he
didn't have a drill to use (Tr. 126-127). M. Meadows stated
that he prepared a separate menorandum (Exhibit 5-a) concerning
M. Garrett's Admi ssion that he knew that mning wthout test
drilling was a violation, but M. Garrett did not want this
statenent to be in his signed statement (Exhibit 5; Tr. 127-128).
M. Meadows stated further that he prepared a nmenmorandum of his
interview with M. Abraham from his notes recordi ng what
M. Abrahamtold him (Exhibit S-6). M. Madows also identified
a statenment taken from second shift foreman Keith M Stevens
(Exhibit S-7).

On cross-exam nation, M. Meadows expl ai ned what occurred
and what was said when he conducted his interviews with
M. Garrett and M. Abraham (Tr. 154-173). |In response to
certain bench questions, M. Meadows stated that M. Abraham
never adnmitted that he knew that test holes needed to be drill ed.
M. Meadows confirmed that M. Abraham was not aware of the
exi stence of the old mne before the initial breakthrough was
made, and that he recommended that M. Abraham be charged
pursuant to section 110(c) of the Act because he knew about the
old mne after the breakthrough, directed that mning continue in
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that area, and adnitted that he instructed M. Garrett to
continue mning (Tr. 173-174). He further explained his reasons
for recomendi ng a section 110(c) proceeding against M. Garrett
(Tr. 175-176).

Keith M Stephens, enployed at the mne as an evening shift
section foreman, testified that he was working on the second
shift in July, 1992, and that there were ten m ners on his crew.
He confirnmed that he worked on July 13 and 14, 1992, and changed
shifts with first shift foreman Richard Garrett. He stated that
on July 13, M. Garrett told himthat he had cut into the old
m ne at the nunber three entry but did not encounter any gas or
water (Tr. 184). M. Stephens stated that he asked M. Garrett
about test driling, and M. Garrett replied "no, we're going to
back up and go to the right", and instructed him"to finish the
br eakt hrough between four and five, back the m ner back and m ne
on the rooms on the right. He already had them marked off with
red paint" (Tr. 184).

Referring to map Exhibit S-2, M. Stephens expl ai ned where
he continued mning after his discussion with M. Garrett. He
stated that he asked M. Garrett about test drilling because "I
didn"t know if we were going straight ahead or what we was goi ng
to do" (Tr. 188).

M. Stephens identified his prior signed statenent given to
speci al investigator Meadows (Exhibit S-7), and he stated that he
did not tell M. Meadows that "I felt we should test drill the
crosscut", and that he does not use the word "basically"

(Tr. 189-192). He further explained what M. Garrett told him
as follows at (Tr. 191):

THE WTNESS: The way he told nme was after | asked him
| said, "What about test drilling?" He said, "Finish
the break, back up and start the roons to the right."

THE WTNESS: Yes, Sir, | asked him "Wat about test
drilling?" But | didn't know -- At that time, | didn't
know i f we were going on or what we was going to do.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: And he just said, "Turn to the right
and continue on."

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Do you remenber him specifically
telling you, "Forget test drilling"?

THE W TNESS: He said, "No, we're not going to drill.
We're going to pull back to the right."
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M. Stephens further explained the testinmony that he gave
during his deposition of October 12, 1993, (Exhibit S-10;
Tr. 195-197). He agreed that he testified that during his
di scussion with M. Garrett he told himthat "he felt" test
hol es should be drilled, and he did so because "it's the | aw'
(Tr. 198).

M. Stephens confirned that on July 13, 1992, the respondent
did not have a drill for drilling test holes, and that he at no
time entered the abandoned m ne because the top was not supported
(Tr. 201). He stated that at the start of his shift he | ooked
into the nunber three entry where he cut the crosscut between
four and five and that he took an air reading and tightened the
curtain to prevent too nuch air fromgoing into the old m ne
Al t hough two or three feet of roof had fallen at the breakthrough
area, the roof was "smooth | ooking" (Tr. 202).

On cross-exam nation, M. Stephens stated that he was able
to see approximately 100 to 150 feet into the old mne and
observed no water. From his visual observation, it appeared to
himthat the direction of the old mine was "at a slight angle to
the right" (Tr. 203). He confirnmed that he nade net hane tests
and found none present, and stated that he would not have
continued mning the crosscut or roons if he believed it was not
safe to do so, and that "I just went ahead and knocked it
through" (Tr. 204). He explained that he did not hesitate to
m ne the crosscut between the four and five entries because "they
wer e past where the breakthrough was, and the angle of the entry
of the old mne that had breakthrough” (Tr. 205). He "guessed”
that the crosscut was mned approximately 25 to 30 feet back from
the face of four and five, and confirned that he did not mne the
nunber one room (Tr. 205).

M. Stephens confirned that M. Meadows cane to his home to
interview himand take his statenent and he expl ai ned what
transpired. He also explained what occurred when there was a
second breakt hrough in August, 1992, and confirmed that the mne
was never placed under a drill plan (Tr. 206-210).

Respondent's Testinmony and Evi dence

Richard Garrett testified that he has been enpl oyed by Tal on
Resources, Inc., as a mne foreman for 17 years, and that he had
14 years of mining experience prior to this job. He confirned
that July 13, 1992, was his first day of official duty at the
Nunber 2 mine, and that he had served at another nmine as foreman
on different shifts (Tr. 219).

M. Garrett described the prevailing mne conditions at the
nunber three entry breakthrough area on July 13, and the
conditions immediately prior to that event, and he stated that
everything was normal and there were no indications that they
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were about to cut through into an old mne. He confirnmed that he
was with the m ner operator when he cut into the old mne, and he
i ndi cated that the coal seamwas "level to the eye" but sl oped
toward the working face of the area where they were working

(Tr. 220-223).

M. Garrett stated that the m ner nmade a 20-foot cut up the
right side of the nunmber three entry and when it cut the |eft
side the rib fell out leaving a 3 foot-by-5 foot hole at the top
of the coal seam "and with all of our air gushing in it we knew
i medi ately we had cut into an old mine" (Tr. 223). The
equi pment was deenergi zed and the hole into the old m ne was cut
| arger to approximtely 14 feet wide and to the same 8 to 10 foot
hei ght that was being mned at that tinme. The area was cl eaned
up and roof bolted, and he made air and gas tests. He detected
no net hane or water and neasured 33,000 cubic feet of air going
t hrough the breakthrough. He |ooked through the opening with his
light and could see approxi mately 100 to 150 feet and observed no
dangerous accunul ati ons of water (Tr. 226-227). He then
proceeded to the surface and tel ephoned M. Abraham and expl ai ned
to himas follows (Tr. 227-228):

Q \What specifically did you tell hin®

A | told himwe had cut into an old mne and we
had no water, no nethane. And there was so
much air going into it, you didn't have to
worry about taking an air sanple. And our
conversation went from where can we mne and
stay mining coal? And | told himabout the
crosscut that | could put through

And | was as nmuch responsi ble for going ahead
and mning as M. Abraham was, because | felt
it was safe. | told himl could put the

br eakt hrough t hrough and set up on a panel of
rooms outby in nunmber five entry, and that is
what we did.

M. Garrett stated that after speaking with M. Abraham he
returned underground and that either he or M. Stephens continued
m ning the Nunber 1 room and it was cl eaned, rock dusted, and
ventilated by the next day when the inspectors were there.

M. Garrett stated that before any mning continued he went into
the old mne for approximately 200 feet, or to what would be the
first crosscut, and he marked the location with an "X' on nap
Exhibit S-2. He stated that he went into the mine to "see what |
had cut into and what lay around me" (Tr. 229). He stated that
he encountered no water, and from his experience "it |ooked |ike
the m ne had been mined in front of me, the direction | cut into
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it" (Tr. 230). He explained that the old nine "ran basically in
the sanme direction as the nunmber three entry" that he had cut
into, rather than off a small angle to the right (Tr. 230).

M. Garrett stated that when he changed shifts with
M. Stephens he expl ai ned the breakthrough, the conditions that
exi sted, and what he planned to do next, and that M. Stephens
did not object. M. Garrett could not recall any nention of
drilling (Tr. 232). When the inspectors arrived the next day,
July 14, the nunmber one room and breakt hrough areas had been
cl eaned up and he voluntarily told the inspectors about what had
occurred. He did not believe that the inspectors would have
known when the mning took place if he had not told them He
confirmed that when he spoke to M. Abrahamon July 13, he
(Abraham) told himthat he was going to notify MSHA and/or the
state inspectors about the breakthrough (Tr. 233). M. Garrett
confirmed that MSHA never required any test drilling while he has
been m ning at the Canpbell Creek mne (Tr. 236).

M. Garrett confirmed that he was interviewed by MSHA
speci al investigator Meadows and signed a statement, and he
explained as follows (Tr. 237-239):

Q Did you ever tell M. Meadows during that
conversation that you knew m ning coa
without test drilling was a violation of the
| aw?

A. | never told M. Meadows in no words
to that. I'mquite sure | told M. Meadows,
M. I nghram and plenty of people that I
understand the | aw about test drilling, when
I should and when | shouldn't. But, no, |
made so such statenment to M. Meadows as
t hat .

Q Did you tell M. Meadows that you knew you
shoul d have been test drilling when you were
mning on July 13, but you didn't test drill?

A No, sir.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: What is your understanding of the | aw

THE WTNESS: That if | am approaching an old works or

abandoned mne that can't be preshifted or checked,

that 1'm supposed to test drill.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: In this case, when they cut through
that was an ol d abandoned nine, was it not?

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir
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JUDGE KOUTRAS: It couldn't be checked?

THE WTNESS: | checked part of it after that.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: By eyeballing it. Before you turned
right and started drilling, did you check --

THE WTNESS: Before | started mining? | checked it
before |I started nmining, Yes, sir

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Did it ever cross your mind that maybe
you shoul d have drilled some bore hol es before turning
ri ght and continuing m ning?

THE WTNESS: | felt with what | seen in the old mne
and with the eye | evel of our nmine and the abandoned
mne | cut into, with the air that | pushed into it
when | cut intoit, if I cut into it again, there would
be no hazard, because | felt there couldn't be no
accurul ati on of water. And if did cut in where there
was gas, | would imediately, with the air | had,

would flush it. | felt that | didn't have no danger

On cross-exam nation, M. Garrett testified further about
his prior statenent to M. Meadows and his breakthrough
conversation with M. Stephens (Tr. 240-244). He could not

recall nentioning test drilling, but stated that "maybe we did
tell himwe weren't going to test drill, because we weren't", and
that "we all knew we didn't have a drill" (Tr. 242-243). He

confirmed that when he went into the old m ne another m ner went
with him"on his own" (Tr. 246).

M. Garrett adnmitted that he told M. Meadows that he did
not go into the old mne because the roof was unsupported, and
because he had been threatened with a state personal violation
did not know if he could legally enter the old m ne, did not want
to bring on any nore violations, and wanted to protect the men on
his section (Tr. 248, 251).

M. Garrett confirmed that in his deposition he stated that
he had wal ked approximately 150 to 200 feet into the old m ne
He estimated that the distance fromthe crosscut between the
nunber four and five entry to the nunber three entry breakthrough
into the old nmine was | ess than 200 feet (Tr. 253-254). He
confirmed that he had never experienced a breakthrough prior to
July 13, 1992, and stated as follows at (Tr. 254-255):

Q So having no experience in this matter, how
could you determ ne what made it safe to
continue mning?

A If | couldn't detect any nethane, if |
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couldn't see any water and if | had thirty thousand feet of air
going through it and the mne was eye |evel, what else could

| ook for?

Q So, are you saying that you were relying on
your experience of seventeen years, | think
you said, at Talon, and however many, thirty
years, as a coal mner?

A. Yes, Ma'am

JUDGE KOUTRAS: M. Garrett, let me ask you this: How
can you be reasonably assured that -- Even through you
made a determ nation that the conditions at the

br eakt hrough area were not hazardous, how could you
predi ct what the conditions would be in sone other area
if you cut through?

THE WTNESS: | couldn't, sir, other than that the nine
was level. | could presumably predict that there was
no hazardous water. There m ght be sone.

M. Garrett stated that if he knew he was mining in the
direction of an old nmne he would test drill, and that he had no
assurance that he m ght not accidently cut into it again, and
while he didn't know his exact position he had a presumably good
idea fromthe roons he was in that he was going away fromthe old
mne. He arrived at these conclusions after exanining the old
m ne and before continuing mning (Tr. 257).

In response to further questions, M. Garrett confirmed that
he did not tell Inspector Inghramthat he had gone into the old
m ne because he had a state inspector with himwho had threatened
to cite himwith a personal violation and he was afraid to say
anything. He did tell M. Inghramthat he thought it was safe to
mne in the direction that mning was progressing in the roons,
but was afraid to tell himthat he had determ ned that the old
mne was in the opposite direction (Tr. 262). He confirmed that
he was in fact cited by the state and fined $50 for mining at the
br eakt hrough without test drilling (Exhibit R-8; Tr. 264).

Ri chard H. Abraham President, Talon Resources, Inc.
testified that he has worked in the mning industry since 1968,
and is a certified mner, nmne foreman, and electrician, and is
certified to take respirable dust sanples (Tr. 267). He stated
hi s understandi ng of the intent and purpose of section 75.1701
as follows at (Tr. 268):

THE W TNESS: Okay. It is ny general understandi ng of
the |l aw that the purpose of 75.1701 is to ascertain
dangerous conditions of gases or water prior to the
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i ntentional breakthrough into an abandoned area of that mne
abandoned area of another mne or an area of that mne

i naccessi bl e.

And it does talk about three different cases; one which
woul d be the sane mine, which would be by certified
engi neers, then could mine within fifty feet with no

test drilling. O if it's the sane mne that wasn't
certified by engineers, it would be two hundred feet.
O if it's a different mne and, | assune, different

I .D. Number which would be the case of big bottom
again, it would be two hundred feet.

M. Abraham al so believed the the word "approaches” found in
the statutory | anguage of section 75.1701, is significant because
if mning is being done in a direction opposite fromthe old
m ne, this would not be "approaching" the old mne (Tr. 269).
Wth regard to mining "parallel” to the old mne, M. Abraham
stated that at another mine where parallel mning was within
200 feet of an abandoned m ne, he and MSHA agreed to a plan
where drilling was not required (Tr. 269-270). He acknow edged a
di stinction between a known and unknown hazardous abandoned mi ne
(Tr. 271). He also alluded to another m ne where a pl anned
drilling procedure is in effect (Tr. 273-274).

M. Abraham stated that it is his understanding that there
is no legal requirenent for test drilling breakthroughs between
entry ways, and that the sole purpose of drilling is to determn ne
the atnosphere and presence of dangerous accumul ati ons of water
in an abandoned mine (Tr. 275). He confirmed that there was no
drilling equipnent at the mine at the tinme the breakthrough
occurred, and that prior to speaking with M. Garrett on July 13,
1992, he was not aware of the existence of the old Big Bottom
mne (Tr. 276).

M. Abraham confirned that M. Garrett called himand
i nformed himthat he had accidentally penetrated an ol d mine but
had no inundation of water, and that the air was |eaving the
nunber three entry of the Canpbell Creek mine and going into the
old mine. M. Abraham stated that he engaged the "speaker phone"
and went to the engineering office where Ken Abraham the m ne
engi neer and safety director is |located, to look at a m ne map
(Exhibit R-2), and he explained the discussions that took place,
i ncluding the mark-up of the map (Tr. 280-284).

M. Abraham stated that based on the spad mark | ocation of
t he breakthrough given to himby M. Garrett he knew where the
abandoned m ne had been penetrated. After further discussion
about the conditions encountered by M. Garrett, and his belief
that he had penetrated the old m ne "head on", M. Abraham
decided that it was safe to continue mining in a direction that
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he believed was away fromthe old nmine, and he instructed

M. Garrett "to turn it on the side, ninety degrees, which would
be that way, and mark up five roonms" (Tr. 284-287). He also
allowed M. Garrett to cut the breakthrough between the No. 4
and 5 entries so as not to |leave two dead entries in the mne
and he did so after instructing M. Garrett to take additiona
safety precautions.

M. Abraham stated that based on the | ocation of the initia
penetration of the old mne, the distance between that point and
the nunber one room where mining continued was in fact 198 feet
(Tr. 298). M. Abraham expl ai ned how he calculated this
di stance, and he stated that if five roons had been marked up, as
he instructed, rather than six, mning in those roons, except for
the crosscut breakt hrough which he authorized, would not have
been within 200 feet of the old mne (Tr. 290-291).

M. Abraham stated that after his discussion with
M. Garrett on July 13, he instructed himto cut the breakthrough
and start the roons. He then consulted with his engi neer, and
they determ ned that the breakthrough was not a reportable
accident. However, he reported it to the state agency, and as a
matter of courtesy, also reported it to MSHA. No one canme to the
m ne that day, and he assuned that |nspector |Inghram was there
the next day in response to his call, but learned |ater that he
was there for a schedul ed inspection (Tr. 297).

M. Abraham expl ai ned where m ning had continued after the
br eakt hrough, as follows at (Tr. 301-302):

Q When you went back in and m ned that day,
what area of the m ne were you working in?

A We wor ked room nunber two through six.

Q And still proceeding in the same direction
you' ve testified to, approximtely a ninety
degree angle fromthe breakthrough?

A. We were approximately mning in a direction
ninety degrees fromthe direction that we
t hought big bottomwas in. And the nunber
two, three, four, five and six are paralle
to the nunber one entry which is referenced
in the citation, yes.

Q Did you start mning again once you had the
map of what everyone thought the big bottom
m ne | ooked like at that time?

A I think what happened is while the inspectors
were there on the surface, Tom Law appeared
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with the hard copy of this Big Bottom Coal Conmpany. And upon
exam nation of that or upon this line that M. |ngram and

M. Gllian elected to make the boundaries

of Big Bottom Coal Conpany, it was basically
deci ded that the nunber one entry was the
only one within the two hundred feet.

And to avoid all argunment, if | would go to
two through six, | could go mine there with
or without a map. And M. Inghram seened to
be content to allow us to do that as long as
we only stayed in two through six and we sent
this hard copy to the engi neers and have it
put on to here and have it back the next
norning as a certified map.

Q Were your required to test drill two through
Si x?
A. We were not.

M. Abraham confirmed that he reported the second August
br eakt hrough, but MSHA did not cone to the mine to inspect it and

he was not put on any test drilling program (Tr. 303). He stated
that he advised MSHA that the map that he had was obvi ously
i naccurate, that he did not want to drill in that area because it
was non-productive, and that he would only drill if it were

absol utely necessary for himto nmne in that direction, and that
he was abandoning the area (Tr. 303).

M. Abraham stated that he did not believe that the | aw
required any test drilling before mining the crosscut between the
nunber 4 and 5 entries. Those entries had not cut into the old
m ne, and that by instructing M. Garrett to back up 30 feet to
connect the two entries together, he believed it was very
unlikely that he would again be cutting into the old mne while
connecting the two entries (Tr. 307).

M. Abraham stated that he was not "approaching” the old
m ne when the crosscut or number one room were being mned. He
confirmed that he knew that the crosscut would be wthin
200 feet of the old mne, but that the nunber one room would not.
However, he did not believe that he was required to test dril
while mning a crosscut because that is not his interpretation of
section 75.1701, and he did not believe that this was MSHA' s
interpretation (Tr. 308). He stated that the mine drilling plans
do not include the drilling of breakthroughs, and that drilling
is only done when there is adjacent mning advanci ng toward an
abandoned mne (Tr. 309). He further explained as follows at
(Tr. 309-310);
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THE WTNESS: We did not drill the breakthroughs. W
only drilled those entries going toward that mne. W
didn't drill anything going back the other way.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: You nean to tell nme when you got within
two hundred feet, you didn't drill holes?

THE WTNESS: W drilled themin the faces going toward
the ol d works, but not in crosscuts that were ninety
degrees. They were not going in the direction of --

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Even though they're within two hundred
feet.

THE W TNESS: Even though they're within two hundred
feet. That was the fifteen-minute dissertation | tried
to give you in the beginning. There has been nore than

one application of this where to say that you drill in
all areas within two hundred feet is not true. It is
not done.

M. Abraham expl ai ned the m ne el evations and he believed
that it was inpossible to encounter an accurul ati on of water had
they cut through again between the nunber four and five entries
(Tr. 311-313).

On cross-exam nation, M. Abrahamclarified his earlier
testimony and stated that he determ ned the 198 feet distance
bet ween t he abandoned m ne and the crosscut between the nunber 4
and 5 entries after his conversation with M. Garrett on July 13,
and that it was his belief at that tinme that the room woul d be
outside the 200 foot area (Tr. 314-316).

M. Abrahamreiterated his belief that it was not a
violation to cut through a crosscut "unl ess you are approaching
the old works" (Tr. 319). He also believed that the accidenta
br eakt hrough tol d himeverything he needed to know in order to
make a conpl ete assessment with respect to the continuation of
mning (Tr. 320-321). He further confirnmed that all mining that
took place after the acci dental breakthrough, and that was within
200 feet of the abandoned mi ne, was done at ninety degrees away
fromthat mine (Tr. 330). He reiterated his belief that even if
the ninety degree direction of mining is within 200 feet of an
adj acent nmine he would still not be in violation because the
mning is not "approaching" the abandoned nmine (Tr. 331).

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Prelimnary Matters

During a brief off-the-record trial conference with the
parties prior to the taking of testinony in these proceedings,
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di scussed with the parties certain proposed stipulations drafted
by the petitioner's counsel (Tr. 7). However, the stipulations
were inadvertently omtted fromthe record. 1In any event, based
on the pleadings filed by the parties, including the respondent's
di scovery responses and posthearing proposed findi ngs and
conclusions, | conclude and find that the follow ng facts and
concl usions are not in dispute:

1. The presiding judge and the Conm ssion have jurisdiction
to hear and deci de these cases.

2. The respondent Tal on Resources Inc., is the owner and
operator of the Canpbell's Creek No. 2 Mne, and the operations
of that mne are subject to the jurisdiction of the Mne Act.

3. Respondents Richard Abraham and Richard Garrett are
agents of Tal on Resources Incorporated within the nmeani ng of
Section 110(c) of the M ne Act.

4. MSHA | nspector Leo Inghram Jr. was acting in his
of ficial capacity as an authorized representative of the
Secretary of Labor on July 14, 1992 when he issued the
Section 104(d) Citation No. 2729003.

5. A true copy of Citation No. 2729003 was served on Tal on
Resources I ncorporated or its agent and the two individua
Respondents, as required by the Mne Act.

6. Citation No. 2729003, marked Secretary's Exhibit No. 1,
is authentic and may be admitted into evidence for the purpose of
establishing its issuance and not for the purpose of establishing
the accuracy of any statements asserted therein.

7. Petitioner's Proposed Assessnent Data Sheet, Exhibit
No. 8, accurately sets forth (a) the nunber of assessed non-
single penalty violations charged to the Canpbell's Creek No. 2
m ne for the period fromJanuary 1990 t hrough Septenber 1992,
(b) the number of inspection days per nonth during this tinme
period, and (c) the actual annual tonnage for the Canpbell's
Creek No. 2 mne in 1991

8. Petitioner's Assessed Violations Hi story Report, Exhibit
No. 9, may be used in determ ning an appropriate civil penalty
assessnment for the alleged violations agai nst Tal on Resources
I ncorporated, Richard Abraham and Richard Garrett.

Fact of Violation - Docket No. WEVA 93-16

Talon is charged with a violation of mandatory safety
standard 30 C F.R 0O 75.1701, for mning near an underground
entry that had accidently holed through into an unknown abandoned
m ne. The relevant |anguage of statutory section 75.1701, which



~750
was in effect at the time the citation was issued on July 14,
1992, states as foll ows:

VWhenever any working place approaches within 50 feet of
abandoned areas in the mne as show by surveys nade and
certified by a registered engi neer or surveyor, or
within 200 feet of any other abandoned areas of the

m ne whi ch cannot be inspected and which may contain
dangerous accumnul ati ons of water or gas, or within

200 feet of any workings of an adjacent mne, a
borehol e or boreholes shall be drilled to a distance of
at least 20 feet in advance of the working face of such
wor ki ng place ....

Section 75.1701, was redesignated as section 75. 388,
effective August 16, 1992, 57 F.R 20914, and it states as
fol |l ows:

(a) Boreholes shall be drilled in each advanci ng worki ng
pl ace when the working place approaches

(1) To within 50 feet or any area located in the
m ne as shown by surveys that are certified
by a registered engineer or registered
surveyor unless the area has been preshift
examni ned;

(2) To within 200 feet of any area located in the
m ne not shown by surveys that are certified
by a regi stered engineer or registered
surveyor unless the area has been preshift
examni ned; or

(3) To within 200 feet of any mne workings of an
adj acent nmine |located in the same coal bed
unl ess the m ne workings have been preshift
exami ned.

Al t hough the inspector contended that no one knew the
extent of the abandoned m ne, or whether the mning that took
pl ace after the breakthrough on July 13, 1992, was agai n headi ng
toward or away fromthe abandoned mine (Tr. 51), the petitioner
argued in support of its case that Inspector Ingram wth State
I nspector Gllian, determined fromexisting maps of the No. 2
m ne that both of the cited |ocations where nmining took place
after the initial breakthrough were within 200 feet of the
opening hole of the No. 3 entry where the breakthrough into
t he abandoned mi ne was nmade. The petitioner points out that
i nspector Inghramestimted that the crosscut that was m ned
was 80 feet fromthe opening, and that the first room was
175 feet fromthe opening, and that since Tal on has mai ntai ned
that no map of the adjacent mine was available at the tine
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these areas were mned, the only point fromwhich to nmeasure
the 200 feet distances was the one and only No. 3 entry opening
into the abandoned mine. The petitioner further relies on the
testi mony of respondents Garrett and Abraham admitting that
both of the mined | ocations after the breakthrough were within
200 feet of that area. Since no test drilling was done prior
to the mining of these areas, the petitioner concludes that a
viol ation of section 75.1701, has been established.

Tal on mai ntains that section 75.1701, applies only when a
wor ki ng pl ace "approaches” to within 200 feet of any worKkings
of an adjacent mine. Talon argues that in order to establish a
viol ation, the petitioner nust prove by a preponderance of the
evi dence that Tal on was "approaching” or mining in the direction
of the abandoned Big Bottom nmine when it mned the crosscut
between entries 4 and 5, and the No. 1 Roomoff of the No. 5
entry. |In support of its argunent, Tal on states that given
what is now known of the paraneters of the Big Bottom M ne from
maps it obtained, mning did not approach the Big Bottom M ne
on July 13, 1992, after the breakthrough, and the testinmony of
respondents Abraham and Garrett denonstrates that they had a
reasonabl e belief that the mning in the crosscut and the No. 1
Room woul d not approach the Big Bottom M ne since that m ne was
hit "head on," according to Garrett, when it was cut through in
the Nunber 3 entry, and based upon Abraham s assessnent of where
the old mine was likely to |ay.

Tal on further argues that by retreating 20 to 30 feet from
the faces of the No. 4 and 5 entries before mning the crosscut,
the conditions on both sides of the crosscut were known, and that
under these circunmstances, section 75.1701, is inapplicable to
the m ning of the cross-cut because that regul ati on was
promul gated to guard against mining into areas that nmay contain
danger ous accunul ati ons of water and gas.

Tal on argues further that the petitioner failed to establish
a violation of section 75.1701, with respect to the mning of the
No. 1 Roomin that, at the time the citation was witten, the
i nspector had no evidence that said mning was in fact within
200 feet of the Big Bottom M ne. Talon believes that it is clear
fromthe inspector's testinony that the assertion that the No. 1
Room was within 175 feet of the Big Bottom M ne was based upon
his cal culation of the room s distance froman inmaginary |ine
that he and the state inspector estimted would represent the
extent and angle of the Big Bottom M ne, and that the inspector
admtted that the imaginary |ine does not represent the actua
extent and angle of the Big Bottom M ne.

Citing South East Coal Co., Inc., 3 FMSHRC 1766 (July 1981),
Tal on suggests that since the Big Bottom M ne was ventil ated by
air rushing fromthe Canpbell's Creek Mne, and is now an
approved part of the ventilation plan for the Canpbell's Creek
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M ne, and since M. Garrett exami ned the Big Bottom M ne and was
satisfied that it presented no hazardous accumnul ati ons of water
or gas, Talon could mne to within 50 feet of the Big Bottom M ne
wi thout drilling test holes. However, since the mning in both
the crosscut and the No. Room were nore than 50 feet fromthe

Big Bottom M ne, Tal on concludes that no violation of

section 75.1701, has been proved in this case.

In response to Talon's argunents concerning the
interpretation of the term "approaches"”, the petitioner states
that it is an "absurd" position that is not enconpassed in the
pl ai n meani ng of the statutory regulation, and has no basis in
regul atory or legislative history, or applicable case | aw

Petitioner states that the |l egislative history of the
1969 Coal Act and the 1977 M ne act do not disclose any
commentary on the purpose or application of section 75.1701, in
general or specifically with respect to the word "approaches."
The petitioner states further that in three cases in which
Commi ssi on Judges have addressed section 75.1701, the term
"approaches" did not have a neaning or an application denoting
an angle or direction of mning. TAC & C Energy Inc., 8 FMSHRC
1452 (Septenber 1986); South East Coal Co., 3 FMSHRC 1766 (July
1981); Johnson Bros. Coal Co., Inc., 2 FMSHRC 094, 916 (Apri
1980) .

Citing Webster's Ninth Collegiate Dictionary definition of
"approaches" as "to draw cl oser to" or "to come very near to",
the petitioner concludes that neither of these refer to a
direction or angle. The petitioner further asserts that
section 75.388(a), rewites and clarifies section 75.1701, and
confirms that "approaches" has no directional or angul ar nmeaning
or application in section 75.1701. Citing the section 75.388(a)
| anguage that "[b]oreholes shall be drilled in each advancing

wor ki ng pl ace when the working place approaches -- (1) To within
50 feet...; (2) To within 200 feet...; or (3) To within 200 feet
of any m ne workings of an adjacent mine....", the petitioner

concl udes that by separating the | anguage after "approaches"
and adding the word "to" to "within," the plain meaning of
"approaches" is enphasized.

The petitioner takes the position that any angle or
direction of mining is irrelevant because "it is the nearing
of mining to the stated di stance before the adjacent mne that
is inmportant." Simlarly, petitioner believes that it is
irrel evant whether Tal on was mining towards the opening to the
adj acent mine in entry three after it turned ninety degrees to
the right of the opening to cut the crosscut and the roomin
question, because this mning occurred within 200 feet of the
opening in entry three. Petitioner finds equally unpersuasive
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Talon's contention that it was not required to test dril
crosscuts or to drill in all mning circunstances within 200 feet
of an adjacent m ne

In further support of its position, Talon cites the
petitioner's adm ssion that Wbster's Dictionary defines
"approach" as "to draw closer to", and its "non sequitur state-
ment" that "any angle or direction of mining is irrelevant
because it is the nearing of mining to the stated di stance before
the adjacent mine that is inportant”. Talon suggests that these
adm ssions by the petitioner support its contention that the term
"approaches" does indeed have a directional meaning. Since the
m ning that occurred on July 13, 1992, after the breakthrough
was away from rather than nearing toward or approaching the
abandoned Big Bottom M ne, Talon concludes that no violation of
section 75.1701, occurred.

The requirement found in section 75.1701, for the drilling
of boreholes applies to (1) working places within 50 feet of
abandoned areas in the mne that are shown on a certified mne
survey; (2) working places within 200 feet of any other abandoned
areas of the mine, which cannot be inspected; and (3) working
pl aces within 200 feet of any workings of an adjacent mne. On
the facts of this case, and given the statutory |anguage "in the
nm ne" and "of the mine", | conclude and find that the first
two borehol e requirenents apply only to the same Canpbell's Creek
No. 2 Mne that was inspected on July 14, 1992, and that in order
to support a violation of either of those requirenments, it mnust
be established that drilling was not done within 50 or 200 feet
of any abandoned areas in that mne. Since there is no evidence
that the two cited locations that were mned after the cut-
through on July 13, 1992, were abandoned areas of the Canpbell's
Creek No. 2 Mne, | conclude and find that the first two drilling
requi renents stated in section 75.1701, do not apply in these
proceedi ngs.

Wth respect to the third requirenment for drilling in
wor ki ng pl aces that are within 200 feet of any workings of an
adj acent mne, it would appear that the abandoned Big Bottom M ne
was adj acent to the Canpbell's Creek M ne. The inspector
testified that the initial breakthrough into the abandoned
m ne was accidental and did not constitute a violation of
section 75.1701. The inspector described two |locations in the
Campbel | 's Creek mine where nmning continued after the initia
breakt hrough without drilling test holes. The first |ocation was
a crosscut between the No. 4 and 5 entries, allegedly within
200 feet of the breakthrough, and the second | ocation was the
No. 1 Room of the No. 4 panel, allegedly within 175 feet of the
br eakt hr ough
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Tal on does not dispute the fact that the crosscut entries
were within 200 feet of the abandoned Big Bottom Mne. Wth
regard to the No. 1 Roomoff of No. 5 entry, Talon takes issue
with the accuracy of the inspector's calculations placing that
| ocation within 200 feet of the breakthrough | ocation. However
M. Abraham confirned that the roomwas within 200 feet of the
br eakt hrough and he was quite precise at placing it 198 feet from
the breakthrough (Tr. 289-291). M. Garrett said it was |ess
than 200 feet (Tr. 253). Under all of these circunstances, |
conclude and find that both of the cited |ocations were within
200 feet of the adjacent Big Bottom breakthrough entry.

The thrust of the petitioner's case is that Talon continued
mning in the general area near the abandoned Bi g Bottom m ne
after the initial breakthrough on July 13, 1992, without drilling
test holes. The inspector gave three reasons for issuing the
citation citing a violation of section 75.1701, and they are as
foll ows:

Failure to drill test holes while mining within
200 feet of the abandoned mine (Tr. 15).

Failure to drill test holes while mining within
200 feet of the abandoned mine that could not be
i nspected for accumnul ati ons of water and gases
(Tr. 82).

Failure to drill test holes to determ ne the |ocation
of the abandoned mi ne while continuing to mne within
200 feet of the abandoned mine area (Tr. 51).

Aside fromthe inspector's explanations as to why he issued
the citation, | believe the pivotal issue is Talon's interpre-
tation of the term "approaches" found in section 75.1701, and the
petitioner's equally vigorous position that a violation has been
establ i shed because Tal on conducted nmining within a 200 foot area
of the breakthrough without drilling test holes, regardl ess of
whet her the working faces were being advanced in the direction of
t he abandoned m ne breakthrough area or away fromthat area.

Bl ack's Law Dictionary, Rev. Fourth Ed., 1968, defines
"approach" as "to cone nearer in space. Thus, an "approaching"”
street car is one coning near to, in point of time and place"
"Approaches" is defined as " a way, passage, or avenue by which a
pl ace ... can be approached"

In a decision issued by me on February 17, 1977, pursuant to
the 1969 Coal Act, Mning Enforcement and Safety Admi nistration
v. Robinson & Phillips Coal Co., Docket No. HOPE 76.113-P, |
vacated an order that was issued for an alleged violation of
30 CF.R 0O 75.1701, and stated as follows at pg. 16, slip
opi ni on:
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| believe that it is clear that the regulation requires
the drilling of one or nore boreholes into the face as
m ni ng advances towards an abandoned area of the m ne
and that the purpose of this requirenent is to insure
agai nst acci dental holing through i nto unknown
gquantities of gas or inpounded water. (Enphasis
added) .

In South East Coal Conpany, Inc., 3 FMSHRC 1766 (July 1981),
former Comm ssion Judge Richard Steffey disnissed a proposed
penalty assessnment for an alleged violation of 30 C.F.R
O 75.1701, after concluding that MSHA had failed to prove
violation. At several places in his decision Judge Steffy
made references to the drilling requirements of section 75.1701
in the context of the direction of mning toward abandoned
mne areas. He stated in relevant part as follows at
3 FMSHRC 1771-1772:

Anyone who reads the first sentence of section 75.1701

will see that the requirement for the drilling of
bor ehol es becones increasi ng necessary, dependi ng upon
t he anount of informati on one possess with respect to
t he "abandoned areas" toward which one is advancing.

* * *

If one advances toward abandoned areas not shown on
certified maps, he nust start drilling boreholes ....

* * *

it was doubtful if the area toward which the roons
were being driven constituted "abandoned areas"....

* * *

Since the "abandoned areas" toward which the respondent
was advancing ..
(Enphasi s added)

Section 75.1701, does not unequivocally require test
drilling under all mning circumstances. The first two
requi renents cover test drilling within 50 feet of an abandoned
m ne area that has been surveyed and certified by a registered
engi neer, and within 200 feet of any other abandoned m ne which
cannot be inspected and which nmay contain dangerous accumul ati ons
of water or gas. |In both of these instances, | conclude that the
requirements for drilling are intended to prevent accidenta
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penetration into known abandoned m ne areas where hazardous
accumrul ati ons of water or gases may be present. The 50 foot
"safety zone" obviously takes into consideration the fact that
t he abandoned area has been surveyed and its | ocation is known
with reasonable certainty.

In the case of an unsurveyed abandoned mine area that is
known but cannot be inspected, the margin of safety is increased
to 200 feet, and | believe that this is based on the fact that
t he abandoned area cannot be inspected, and even though its
general |ocation may be known, wi thout a survey or an inspection
it would be difficult to establish with any reasonable certainty
whet her or not mining is advancing in the direction of the
abandoned area, or whether it is in close proximty to that area.

Wth respect to any drilling within 200 feet of any workings
of an adjacent mne, section 75.1701 does not nention surveys or
i nspections of those areas. |If the location of such a mne is

not known because it does not appear on the mine map, or because
it has not been surveyed or inspected, one would not know whet her
mning i s being conducted within 200 feet of such an area, and

woul d have no way of know ng whether or not drilling test holes
i's necessary or required. However, once the location of the
adj acent mne is made known, one could argue that the drilling of

test holes would be required under all circumstances within

200 feet of the adjacent mne, regardless of the directiona
track of the mning taking place within this area. However,
given the fact that the intent of section 75.1701, is to prevent
t he acci dental holing through into adjacent mine workings, and
considering the regulatory term "approaches” in context, and
together with the |anguage requiring the initial drilling of a
test hole to a 20 foot distance in advance of the working face,
and nmai ntai ning subsequent drilling to at least 10 feet in
advance of the advanci ng working face, |anguage that denotes the
direction of mining, | find no logical reason to require the
drilling of test holes as a preventive nmeasure to preclude
accidentally holing into a known adjacent mnine area when the
direction of mining is clearly, or with some reasonabl e
certainty, taking place away from or in the opposite direction,
of such an area

The petitioner's contention that the abandoned nine "was
conpl etely unknown to Respondents in every respect” is not wel
taken. Although it is true that the mining which continued after
t he breakthrough was done wi thout the benefit of a map or the
drilling of test holes, and that Tal on was unaware of the
exi stence of the old nmine prior to the breakthrough, the evidence
presented in these proceedings, including Talon's credible
testi nony, supports a conclusion that Tal on had enough know edge
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of the conditions in the old mne, as well as where the m ne was
| ocated, to provide it with a reasonable basis for believing that
it was safe to continue nmining on a track away from rather than
in the direction of, the old mne

Eveni ng shift foreman Keith Stephens, who nmined the crosscut
between the No. 4 and 5 entries, testified that he could see 100
to 150 into the old mne after the breakthrough, and he observed
no water and nade nethane tests which showed no nmethane present.
He also testified that he did not hesitate to mine the crosscut
because it was past the area of the breakthrough and the angle at
whi ch the breakthrough entry was nade, and was approxi mately
25 to 30 feet back fromthe No. 4 and 5 faces. He stated that he
woul d not have mined the crosscut if he did not believe it was
safe to do so

Respondent and nmine foreman Richard Garrett, who was present
when the initial breakthrough occurred on July 13, 1992,
testified that he could see into the old mine for approximtely
100 to 150 feet, and that he observed no water, detected no
nmet hane, and neasured 33,000 cubic feet of air per minute going
t hrough the breakthrough into the old nine. He further testified
that after notifying M. Abraham of the breakthrough, and before
continuing mning, he walked into the old mne for a distance of
approxi mately 200 feet, found no water, and observed that the old
mne lay in the same direction as the breakthrough entry, rather
than at a small angle to the right. Based on his 31 years as
Talon's mne foreman, and his observations of the old mine on
July 13, M. Garrett believed that the mining that continued
after the breakthrough was in the direction opposite to and away
fromthe old mne

Al t hough M. Garrett did not informInspector Inghramthat
he had gone into the old mne at the tinme of his inspection on
July 14, 1992, and told special investigator Meadows that the had
not gone into that nine, | find his explanations for not telling
the inspectors to be both reasonabl e and pl ausi bl e under the
circunstances. Having viewed M. Garrett in the course of the
hearing, he inpressed ne as a credible individual. | take note
of the fact that the areas that were mined on July 13, had been
cl eaned up, ventilated, and bolted when the July 14, inspection
took place, and that the inspectors would not have known when the
mning occurred if M. Garrett had not volunteered the infor-
mation. | also note that M. Garrett accepted the responsibility
for the continued nmning and he believed that it was safely done.

Respondent Abraham testified that based on the spad mark
where the breakthrough occurred, he knew where the old m ne had
been penetrated, and based on the fact that it was penetrated
"head on", and the prevailing conditions as reported to him by
M. Garrett, M. Abraham believed that it was safe to continue
m ning. Inasnmuch as the mner nmachi ne backed up 30 feet from
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t he point of penetration and turned ninety degrees to the right
to continue mning, M. Abraham had reason to believe that

m ning was on a track away fromthe old mne, was no | onger
"approaching" that mne, and that it was unlikely that the old
m ne woul d again be cut into while connecting the two entries
and mining the No. 1 Room This proved to be true as no further
br eakt hroughs occurred in those areas.

I nspector Inghram s cal culations with respect to the
200 foot area within which he believed mning was prohibited in
any direction without first drilling test holes were made with
the No. 3 entry breakthrough location as his initial point of
reference, and the two m ne maps which he marked up during his
testinony use that location as the initial point of reference
(Petitioner's Exhibits 2 and 3).

Al t hough the inspector testified that his estimtion of the
| ocation of the old mne on July 14, 1992, as shown by the
hi ghlighted solid Iine on petitioner's map exhibit 2, was based
on his "observation of the old mne", he confirmed that he did
not enter the old mne. Although he stated that he could see a
short distance into the old mne (Tr. 23), he later testified
that he could not approach the breakthrough area cl ose enough to
| ook into the old mne and only viewed it froma distance
(Tr. 37). He confirmed that mining continued "off to the right"
and that no further breakthroughs occurred during this tinme
period (Tr. 44).

The inspector confirmed that his estimtion of the [ocation
of the old m ne was based on his "best guess” as to the probable
general direction of the old m ne, and that his cal cul ati on of
the 200 foot area fromthe breakthrough which is | abel ed
"probable 200 foot Ilimt" on map exhibit 3, was based on an
"imagi nary line" of where he believed the old mne was | ocated.
He confirnmed that the cited mning took place to the right of
that | ocation. Having exam ned the maps marked up by the
i nspector, it is clear to ne that the cited crosscut and No. 1
roomthat were mned after the breakthrough were approximately
90 degrees and to the right of, and away from the old mne area
as described by the inspector. Based on this evidence, | find
that it supports Talon's belief that it was m ning away fromthe
old mne after the breakthrough, and that it was not again
"approachi ng" that mne

After careful consideration of the argunents presented by

the parties, | agree with Talon's position concerning the
interpretati on and application of section 75.1701. | conclude
and find that the term "approaches” nodifies each of the three
regulatory drilling requirements, and that in order to establish

a violation it nmust be established by a preponderance of the
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evi dence that the m ning taking place within the 50 to 200 f oot
areas stated in the regulation was in the direction of the
abandoned or adjacent m ne areas.

On the facts of this case, | find that imediately prior to
the breakthrough into the old adjacent mne, the mning in the
Canmpbel | 's Creek mine was advancing in the direction of the old
mne and that it was clearly approaching that area. However,
after the breakthrough, |I find that mning continued in the
opposite direction and away fromthe old mne, and was clearly
not agai n approaching that area. Since the purpose of drilling
test holes is to determi ne the safeness of the area toward which
m ning is advancing, | conclude and find the drilling requirenent
found in section 75.1701, with respect to the adjacent mne in
qgquestion did not apply, and that a violation has not been
established. Under the circunmstances, the disputed citation
I S VACATED

Fact of Violation. Docket Nos. WEVA 93-393 and WEVA 93-402.

| adopt and incorporate by reference in these two
section 110(c) cases ny prior findings and concl usions in Docket
No. WEVA 93-16, concerning the m ne operator Tal on Resources.

In order to establish a violation chargeable to the two
i ndi vi dual respondents, it must first be established that the
m ne operator violated the cited mandatory regulation in
guestion. Since | have concluded that a violation has not been
established, the citations served on the two individua
respondents in these proceedi ngs ARE VACATED.

ORDER

In view of the foregoing findings and conclusions IT IS
ORDERED AS FOLLOWS

1. Section 104(d)(1l) "S&S" Citation No. 3729003, issued
on July 14, 1992, citing an alleged violation of 30 C.F.R
0 75.1701, 1S VACATED, and the petitioner's proposal fo
assessment of civil penalty in Docket No. WEVA 93-16, |S DEN ED
AND DI SM SSED

2. The petitioner's proposed civil penalty assessnents
filed against the individual respondents pursuant to section
110(c) of the Act in Docket Nos. WEVA 93-393 and WEVA 93-402,
based on the vacated section 104(d) (1) "S&S" Citation
No. 3729003, are DENI ED and DI SM SSED.

CGeorge A. Koutras
Adm ni strative Law Judge
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Heat her Bupp- Habuda, Esq., O fice of the Solicitor,
U.S. Departnent of Labor, 4015 WIlson Blvd., Rm 516,
Arlington, VA 22203 (Certified Mail)

Dina M Mohler, Kevin A Nelson, Esgs., KAY, CASTO, CHANEY,
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